January 26, 2017

Mr. Eric Carroll

Shipping International, Inc.
17721 Highway 59 N.
Humble, TX 77396

SUBJECT: ACKNOWLEDGEMENT LETTER FOR NOTICE OF VIOLATION EA-16-167
Dear Mr. Carroll:

On December 5, 2016, the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) cited Airgas Specialty
Gases for: 1) the direct transfer of control of XMAT427 without Commission approval as
required by Title 10 of the Code of Federal Regulations (10 CFR), Section 110.50(d), and
Section 184 of the Atomic Energy Act (AEA) of 1954, as amended; 2) the indirect transfer of
control of XMAT427 without written Commission consent as required by Section 184 of the
AEA; and 3) the export of nuclear material without obtaining a specific license as required by
10 CFR 110.5. The Notice of Violation required you to respond, in writing, within 30 days (NRC
Agencywide Documents Access and Management System (ADAMS) Accession No.
ML16245A279). You responded by letter dated January 3, 2017, ADAMS Accession No.
ML17006A026.

We have reviewed the information provided in response to the Notice of Violation and have
concluded that your completed and proposed actions meet the requirements of 10 CFR 2.201.
In accordance with 10 CFR 2.390 of the NRC’s “Agency Rules of Practice and Procedure,” a
copy of this letter will be made available electronically for public inspection in the NRC Public
Document Room or from ADAMS, which is accessible from the NRC website at
http://www.nrc.gov/reading-rm/adams.html (the Public Electronic Reading Room).

Sincerely,

/RA/

Peter J. Habighorst, Chief
Exports Controls and Nonproliferation Branch
Office of International Programs



January 26, 2017
Mr. Eric Carroll
Shipping International, Inc.
17721 Highway 59 N.
Humble, TX 77396

SUBJECT: ACKNOWLEDGEMENT LETTER FOR NOTICE OF VIOLATION EA-16-167
Dear Mr. Carroll:

On December 5, 2016, the U.S. Nuclear Regulatory Commission (NRC) cited Airgas Specialty
Gases for: 1) the direct transfer of control of XMAT427 without Commission approval as
required by Title 10 of the Code of Federal Regulations (10 CFR), Section 110.50(d), and
Section 184 of the Atomic Energy Act (AEA) of 1954, as amended; 2) the indirect transfer of
control of XMAT427 without written Commission consent as required by Section 184 of the
AEA; and 3) the export of nuclear material without obtaining a specific license as required by
10 CFR 110.5. The Notice of Violation required you to respond, in writing, within 30 days (NRC
Agencywide Documents Access and Management System (ADAMS) Accession No.
ML16245A279). You responded by letter dated January 3, 2017, ADAMS Accession No.
ML17006A026.

We have reviewed the information provided in response to the Notice of Violation and have
concluded that your completed and proposed actions meet the requirements of 10 CFR 2.201.

In accordance with 10 CFR 2.390 of the NRC’s “Agency Rules of Practice and Procedure,” a
copy of this letter will be made available electronically for public inspection in the NRC Public
Document Room or from ADAMS, which is accessible from the NRC website at
http://www.nrc.gov/reading-rm/adams.html (the Public Electronic Reading Room).

Sincerely,

/RA/

Peter J. Habighorst, Chief
Exports Controls and Nonproliferation Branch
Office of International Programs

DISTRIBUTION:
OIP r/f

ADAMS Accession No.: ML17019A026

OFFICE OIP/ECNP OE BC: OIP/ECNP
NAME AJones RFretz PHabighorst
DATE 01/25/17 01/26/17 01/26/17

OFFICIAL RECORD COPY



